# Public Document Pack Brent

## **Standards Committee**

### Monday 21 March 2016 at 7.00 pm

Board Room 7&8 - Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, Wembley HA9 0FJ

#### Membership:

Members

Councillors:

Dixon (Chair)
Kabir (Vice-Chair)

Collier Krupa Sheth Warren

**Co-opted Member:** 

Sheila Darr

**Substitute Members** 

Councillors:

Khan, Mahmood, McLeish and Tatler

Councillors:

For further information contact: Anne Reid, Principal Democratic Services Officer 020 8937 1359, anne.reid@brent.gov.uk

For electronic copies of minutes, reports and agendas, and to be alerted when the minutes of this meeting have been published visit:

democracy.brent.gov.uk

The press and public are welcome to attend this meeting

## **Agenda**

Introductions, if appropriate.

Apologies for absence and clarification of alternate members

**Item** Page

#### 1 Declarations of personal and prejudicial interests

Members are invited to declare at this stage of the meeting, any relevant financial or other interest in the items on this agenda.

#### 2 Minutes of the previous meeting

1 - 2

#### 3 Matters arising (if any)

## 4 Members' Code of Conduct Complaints Procedure and Independent 3 - 28 Members

This report seeks approval a new procedure for dealing with Members' Code of Conduct complaints and to recommend to Full Council that the number of Independent Members appointed to the Committee be increased.

Ward Affected: All Wards Contact Officer: Fiona Alderman, Chief

Legal Officer

Tel: 020 8937 4101

fiona.alderman@brent.gov.uk

#### 5 Date of Next Meeting

The date of the next meeting of the committee will be known when the Council's calendar for 2016/17 is agreed.

#### 6 Any other urgent business

Notice of items to be raised under this heading must be given in writing to the Head of Executive and Member Services or his representative before the meeting in accordance with Standing Order 64.



Please remember to switch your mobile phone to silent during the meeting.

• The meeting room is accessible by lift and seats will be provided for members of the public.



#### LONDON BOROUGH OF BRENT

# MINUTES OF THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE Thursday 7 January 2016 at 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Councillor Dixon (Chair), Councillor Kabir (Vice-Chair) and Councillors Collier, Krupa Sheth and Warren and co-opted member Sheila Darr

Also present: Councillor Perrin

#### 1. Declarations of personal and prejudicial interests

None declared.

#### 2. Minutes of the previous meeting

**RESOLVED:-**

that the minutes of the previous meeting held on 1 October 2015 be approved as an accurate record of the meeting.

#### 3. Matters arising

Members' Code of Conduct and Members' Gifts and Hospitality Protocol It was noted that Full Council had approved the revised Members' Code of Conduct and the Members' Gifts and Hospitality Protocol as recommended by the Standards Committee.

#### 4. Review of Member Development Programme and Members' Expenses

The committee considered the circulated report which outlined the member learning and development sessions delivered for members since December 2014 and the upcoming quarterly programme.

Consideration was given to which sessions might be regarded as mandatory and how attendance at these could be encouraged. The Chair stated that the Council should set out to achieve a culture of learning and development where members wanted to attend the sessions rather than being told which ones they had to attend. It was noted that the Member Development Steering Group was considering this issue.

#### RESOLVED:

That the report submitted be noted.

#### 5. Annual Report to the Standards Committee 2014 - 2015

The committee considered the circulated report of the Monitoring Officer which updated members on conduct issues and the work of the Standards Committee and the Monitoring Officer for the period December 2014 to December 2015.

The committee was informed that the process of recruiting Independent Persons would begin later in January. Councillor Warren enquired about the Council's existing arrangements. He proposed that the Independent Person should be given a higher profile in order to give the role greater credibility by bringing forward their role in the process of considering complaints. Concern was expressed that this could potentially undermine the position of the Monitoring Officer and that such an arrangement was not followed in other boroughs.

#### RESOLVED:

- (i) that the Monitoring Officer's Annual report 2014/15 be noted;
- (ii) that the procedure for dealing with complaints be considered at the next meeting of the Standards Committee.

#### 6. **Date of Next Meeting**

Noted – to be held on 21 March 2016.

#### 7. Any other urgent business

None.

The meeting closed at 8.10 pm

L DIXON Chair



#### **Standards Committee**

21 March 2016

#### Report from the Chief Legal Officer

For Action Wards Affected: ALL

# Members' Code of Conduct Complaints Procedure and Independent Members

#### 1.0 Summary

1.1 This report asks Members to approve a new procedure for dealing with Members' Code of Conduct complaints and to recommend to Full Council that the number of Independent Members appointed to the Committee be increased.

#### 2.0 Recommendations

- 2.1 That the Committee approves the Members' Code of Conduct Complaints Procedures attached to this report.
- 2.2 That the Committee recommends to Full Council that two additional Independent Members be appointed to the Committee.

#### 3.0 Detail

#### Members' Code of Conduct Complaints Procedure

- 3.1. At the last meeting of the Standards Committee on 7 January 2016, the Monitoring Officer/Chief Legal Officer agreed to review the procedure for dealing with Members' Code of Conduct complaints and report any proposed changes to the Committee for discussion and approval.
- 3.2 Having considered the procedures adopted by other councils, as well as factoring in local experience based learning, attached at Appendix 1 is a new procedure for Members' consideration, discussion and approval.
- 3.3. The document at Appendix 1 sets out the following:

- 3.3.1 The procedure for submitting a complaint alleging that the Members' Code of Conduct has been breached. Namely, all complaints must be submitted in writing and complainants are encouraged to use the Council's complaint form.
- 3.3.2 The procedures that will be followed in dealing with such complaints.
- 3.3.3 In outline, the Monitoring Officer will carry out an initial assessment of the complaint and the initial assessment criteria are listed (see paragraph 3.2). At this formative stage, it is not considered necessary to seek the views of the Independent Person because of the need to deal with complaints proportionately, expeditiously and cost effectively.
- 3.3.4 At paragraph 3.5 the next steps for complaints which have cleared the initial assessment are set out. At this stage, the Monitoring Officer will consult the Independent Person and decide the course the complaint should take (see Step 4).
- 3.3.5 Criteria for assessing complaints at this stage are listed and both the complainant and the subject member will have (limited) review rights (see Step 6). The review will be conducted by the Monitoring Officer following consultation with the Independent Person.
- 3.3.6 Investigation procedures (see Annex 2) and Standards Committee hearing procedures (see Annex 3) are also detailed.

#### The Appointment of two additional Independent Members

- 3.4 The membership of the Standards Committee is required to be based on the political balance of the membership of the Council unless a departure from the so-called proportionality or political balance rules is agreed (without dissent) by Full Council. Currently, the membership of the Committee comprises of 5 elected Members: 4 Labour Group Members and 1 Member of the Brent Conservative Group.
- 3.5 In addition, and in accordance with good practice, the membership of the Committee also extends to a non-voting Independent Member. The role of the Independent Member strengthens the Council's corporate governance arrangements and, in particular, adds greater objectivity and legitimacy to decision making. Independent Members provide an independent and external perspective on Member conduct and standards issues in relation to setting standards for Members' conduct and enforcing those standards in the event of a complaint. Independent Members also bring to bear their own experiences and knowledge when giving their views and in that respect ensure a diverse range of views are taken into account.
- 3.6 In recognition of the value of Independent Members on the Committee, it is proposed that two additional Independent Members be appointed.
- 3.7 If the Committee agree, the recruitment process will commence as soon as possible. It is proposed that the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer and Chair of the Standards Committee short-list suitable candidates for interview and make recommendations to the Full Council. Ultimately, it is for Full Council to decide the membership of the Standards Committee and to decide whether to

increase the number of Independent Members and make individual appointments.

#### 4.0 Financial Implications

4.1 In accordance with the Members' Allowance Scheme for 2016/17, Independent Members of the Standards Committee will receive an annual allowance of £423.

#### 5.0 Legal Implications

5.1 The legal requirements relating to the Members' Code of Conduct and the Standards regime are set out in the Localism Act 2011 and have been incorporated into the new complaints procedure. The other legal implications have been noted in the report.

#### 6.0 Diversity Implications

- 6.1 None.
- 7.0 Staffing Implications
- 7.1 None.

#### Background papers

None

#### Contact

Fiona Alderman, Chief Legal Officer, Resources Department, Brent Council, Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, Wembley HA9 0FTJ

Tel: 020 8937 4101

Looqman Desai, Senior Solicitor (Governance), Resources Department, Brent Council, Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, Wembley HA9 0FTJ

Tel: 020 8937 1366

Fiona Alderman Chief Legal Officer



#### LONDON BOROUGH OF BRENT

#### [VERSION 2 FOR CWG 10.02.16]

# PROCEDURE FOR THE ASSESSMENT AND DETERMINATION OF ALLEGATIONS OF BREACHES OF THE MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT INCLUDING THE CONDUCT OF INVESTIGATIONS AND HEARINGS FOLLOWING INVESTIGATIONS

#### 1. Introduction

- 1.1 It is a requirement of the Localism Act 2011 that all Councils must adopt a Code of Conduct which deals with the conduct expected of its elected and co-opted members when they are acting in their official capacity. The Code of Conduct is also required to include appropriate provisions relating to the registration and disclosure of pecuniary and other interests.
- 1.2 Brent Council is responsible for administering its own Code of Conduct and the Council is required to have in place arrangements under which allegations can be investigated and decisions on allegations can be made.
- 1.3 Brent Council is required to appoint at least one Independent Person whose views may be sought by the Council, usually through the Monitoring Officer, or by subject members. The Council must seek the views of an Independent Person before making a decision on an allegation that has been referred for investigation. There is no right for the complainant to seek the views of the Independent Person and no such contact will be tolerated. We have appointed a small number of Independent Persons.
- 1.4 The Independent Persons do not represent and nor are they advisors to the subject member or the Council. They must remain completely impartial and objective and they cannot take sides. Their only role is to assess complaints and form a view on them.
- 1.5 The 2011 Act provides that an allegation is "a written allegation that a member or coopted member of the authority has failed to comply with the authority's code of conduct".
- 1.6 This document sets out the procedure for submitting a complaint alleging that the Code of Conduct has been breached and the procedures that will be followed in dealing with such complaints. It also sets out the criteria for assessing a complaint and when a request may be made for the decision taken on a complaint to be reviewed.

- 1.7 All allegations will be dealt with objectively, fairly and consistently. We will also have regard to what is in the public interest and our fiduciary duty to the tax payers.
- 1.8 Within this procedure references to the "Monitoring Officer" include his or her duly appointed representative(s).
- 1.9 In this procedure the term 'subject member' means the member against whom the allegation has been made.
- 1.10 The Standards Committee will convene from time to time to review the handling of complaints, reviews and decisions made with a view to identifying trends or any improvements in this procedure and the application of it that may be desirable.

#### 2. Submitting a complaint

- 2.1 All complaints must be submitted in writing and this includes electronic submissions. We will assist you if you have a disability that prevents you from making or makes it difficult for you to submit your complaint in writing. We can also help if English is not your first language.
- 2.2 Complainants are encouraged to use our complaints form which we can send out as a hard copy or which is available in electronic format from our web site. Further information and the complaint form are available at [insert link to web page]. If the complaints form is not used the required information will still need to be provided in writing.
- 2.3 If a verbal complaint is made we will ask that the complaint is confirmed in writing providing all the required information. If you are unable to make a written complaint we will offer to transpose your complaint onto a complaint form with an accompanying written statement (if required) which you will then be asked to sign or otherwise indicate to our satisfaction that you wish to make a complaint in those terms. If you are unwilling to sign the documentation or otherwise indicate to our satisfaction that you wish to make a complaint in those terms we will not take any further action on the complaint unless the Monitoring Officer is satisfied that the circumstances justify a departure from this position. If you make a verbal complaint and simply decline to confirm the complaint in writing for reasons which we do not consider to be justifiable we will take no further action on the complaint.
- 2.4 Anonymous complaints will be rejected. This does not include complaints where the complainant requests confidentiality and which is dealt with further in section 7 below and on the complaint form.
- 2.5 Some complaints against a member will represent a complaint against the Council but will fall outside the scope of this procedure. If that happens the complaint will be forwarded to the relevant officer(s) in the Council and the complainant will be advised

of the action taken.

2.6 To submit complaints electronically please use the on-line form at the link in paragraph 2.2 above or e-mail [email address]

All other submissions must be sent or delivered to:

The Monitoring Officer

**Resources Department** 

**Brent Civic Centre** 

Engineers Way,

Wembley, Middlesex HA9 0FJ

#### 3. Processing and determination of complaints

- 3.1 When a complaint is received which is within the scope of this procedure we will aim to acknowledge receipt within 3 working days.
- 3.2 The Monitoring Officer will carry out an initial assessment of whether the alleged behaviour falls within the Code of Conduct and, therefore, this procedure. This will normally be done within 10 working days. If the allegation is about a matter which falls outside of the Code of Conduct or is considered to be within one of the criteria set out below the complaint will not progress beyond this initial assessment stage.

#### Initial assessment criteria

- If the complaint is the same or substantially the same as a complaint previously dealt with
- If the period since the alleged behaviour is so significant that it is considered to be inequitable, unreasonable or otherwise not in the public interest to pursue
- If the complaint is trivial
- If the complaint is not considered to disclose a sufficiently serious potential breach of the Code to merit further consideration
- If the complaint discloses such a minor or technical breach of the Code that it is not in the public interest to pursue
- If the complaint is or appears to be malicious, politically motivated, tit-for-tat or
  otherwise submitted with an improper motive and the complaint is not considered
  to disclose sufficiently serious potential breaches of the Code to merit further
  consideration
- If the complaint is vexatious If the member against whom the allegation has been made has remedied or made reasonable endeavours to remedy the matter and the complaint does not disclose sufficiently serious potential breaches of the Code to

merit further consideration

- If the complaint is about a person who is no longer a member of the Council and there are no overriding public interest reasons to merit further consideration
- 3.3 At this stage, if the complaint is not to progress further the Monitoring Officer will notify the complainant in writing of that fact and with the reasons. She/he will also write to the subject member with details of the complaint, the decision made and the reasons for the decision. The name of the complainant will be disclosed to the subject member unless confidentiality has been requested and the Monitoring Officer considers the request to be justified. When confidentiality has been granted that will be confirmed to the subject member along with the reasons for granting it but not so as to enable the complainant to be identified.
- 3.4 Notwithstanding paragraph 3.2, the Council will in appropriate circumstances pass to the police or Director of Public Prosecutions any allegations it receives which disclose behaviour that may constitute a criminal offence, whether under the ethical standards provisions of the Localism Act or otherwise.
- 3.5 For those complaints which are to be taken beyond the process detailed in the preceding paragraphs, the following steps will be followed. The Monitoring Officer shall seek the views of the nominated Independent Person at Steps 3, 4, 9 and 10 of the process below and the subject member may seek the views of an Independent Person at any time during this process. If considered necessary by the Monitoring Officer she/he may consult with the Chair of Standards Committee and/or any Vice Chair of Standards Committee if appointed Standards Committee to assist her/him with the consideration and determination of the complaint. She/he may do this at any time during the process. The Monitoring Officer may also consult the Leader of the Council or Group Leaders, the Chief Executive or any other officers.

Step	Action
1	The Monitoring Officer will write to the subject member with details of the
	complaint, including those of the complainant unless any confidentiality request
	has been agreed, and also the name and contact details of the Independent
	Person who has been nominated for the complaint and who the subject member
	may contact to seek their views. When confidentiality has been granted that will
	be confirmed to the subject member along with the reasons for granting it but
	not so as to enable the complainant to be identified. At this stage the subject
	member will be given an opportunity to provide the Monitoring Officer with a
	written response to the complaint. Ordinarily we will ask the subject member to

	restrict their written comments to two sides of A4 but they will be permitted to
	provide copies of supporting documents. A time limit for providing a written
	response will be imposed. Ordinarily this period will be 10 working days.
2	The subject member will provide their written comments, with supporting
	documentation if relevant, notify the Monitoring Officer that they do not wish to
	provide a written response to the complaint or the time limit for the submission
	of a written response will lapse.
3	The Monitoring Officer, following consultation with the Independent Person, will
	consider the complaint again in the context of any written submissions and
	supporting documentation provided by the subject member.
4	The Monitoring Officer will, following consultation with the Independent Person,
	determine the complaint in accordance with the Assessment Criteria set out in
	the Annex to this Procedure. The options the Monitoring Officer has are:
	(i) to make no finding as to whether there has been a breach of the Code
	and take no further action;
	(ii) to make no finding as to whether there has been a breach of the Code
	but determine that some action other than an investigation is appropriate;
	(iii) to find no breach of the Code;
	(iv) to find a breach of the Code without an investigation but impose no
	sanction;
	(v) to find a breach of the Code without an investigation and impose a
	sanction;
	(vi) to require that the complaint be investigated to determine whether
	there has been a breach of the Code and the seriousness of the breach;
	(vii) to conclude that the circumstances of the complaint indicate that an
	offence under Chapter 7 of Part 1 of the Localism Act 2011 may have been committed and that the complaint ought to be investigated, by the police where
	appropriate, to determine whether a prosecution should be brought.
5	The outcome of the determination of the complaint will be notified in writing to
3	the complainant and the subject member within 5 working days.
6	The complainant and the subject member will ordinarily be given 10 working
	days from the date of notification of the decision to make a written request to the
	Monitoring Officer that the decision is reviewed. In either case the person
	requesting the review must provide reasons to support the request for review

	(i) the <b>complainant</b> may only request a review where the finding is either of paragraphs (i) and (iii) in Step 4 above;
	(ii) the <b>subject member</b> may only request a review where the finding is either of paragraphs (iv) and (v) in Step 4 above
7	Following a written request for review being received within the time limit the Monitoring Officer will acknowledge the review request within 3 working days and notify the other interested parties of the review request. She/he will write to the complainant or subject member as appropriate with details of the review request. At this stage the complainant or subject member as appropriate will be given an opportunity to provide the Monitoring Officer with a written response to the review request. Ordinarily we will ask the complainant or subject member as appropriate to restrict their written comments to two sides of A4 but they will be permitted to provide copies of supporting documents. A time limit for providing a written response will be imposed.
8	The complainant or subject member as appropriate will provide their written comments, with supporting documentation if relevant, or notify the Monitoring Officer that they do not wish to provide a written response to the complaint or the time limit for the submission of a written response will lapse.
9	The Monitoring Officer, following consultation with the Independent Person, will consider the complaint again in the context of any written submissions and supporting documentation provided by the subject member at Step 2 as well as the review request and any written response to it.
10	The Monitoring Officer will, following consultation with the Independent Person, determine the review in accordance with the Assessment Criteria set out in the Annex to this Procedure. The options the Monitoring Officer has are as set out in Step 4.
11	The outcome of the determination of the review will be notified in writing to the complainant and the subject member within 5 working days.

3.6 Steps 1 to 4 in the table in paragraph 3.5 will normally be concluded within 28 days of receipt of the complaint. If it is not possible to do this within this time the complainant and the subject member will be contacted and advised of the delay and when the Steps will be completed.

3.7 Steps 7 to 10 in the table in paragraph 3.5 will normally be concluded within 28 days of receipt of the review request. If it is not possible to do this within this time the complainant and the subject member will be contacted and advised of the delay and when the Steps will be completed.

#### 4 What happens following assessment or review of complaints?

- 4.1 Any action or investigation will be implemented. If other action is determined as appropriate and either party declines to comply that will be reported to the Monitoring Officer who may decide to treat the facts as a complaint for determination through the process set out in paragraph 3.5 above.
- 4.2 If potential criminal offences are identified and the complaint referred for investigation with a view to prosecution, the appropriate procedures of the police or Council will be followed so as to protect the integrity of the investigation.
- 4.3 A report setting out all the complaints and requests for reviews received and what action was taken regarding them will be forwarded to the Standards Committee on a annual basis for consideration and comment.
- 4.4 The procedures for any investigations and hearings following investigation are annexed to this document.

#### 5 Complainant confidentiality

- 5.1 The subject member will, in normal circumstances, be told from the outset who has complained about them. If a complainant asks for their identity to be withheld their request will be considered by the Monitoring Officer prior to the member being notified that a complaint has been made.
- 5.2 Each request for confidentiality will be considered on its merits and in determining such a request the following will be considered:
  - (i) Whether the complainant reasonably believes that they, or those connected to them, will be at risk of harm if their identity is disclosed;
  - (ii) That the complainant is reasonably concerned about the consequences to their employment, or those connected to them, if their identity is disclosed;
  - (iii) That the complainant, or somebody closely connected to them, suffers from a medical condition and there is evidence of medical risks associated with their identity being disclosed or confirmation from an appropriate medical professional that that is the case; and
  - (iv) The public interest. In some cases the public interest in proceeding with the

complaint may outweigh the complainant's wish to have their identity withheld.

5.3 If it is not considered appropriate to grant a request for confidentiality the complainant will be offered the opportunity to withdraw the complaint rather than proceed with it but this is subject to paragraph 6.

#### 6 Withdrawal of complaints

- Requests to withdraw complaints will normally be granted but in considering such a request from the complainant the Monitoring Officer will consider the following factors:
  - (i) Whether the public interest in taking action on the complaint outweighs the complainant's desire to withdraw it;
  - (ii) Whether the complaint is such that action can or should be taken on it without the complainant's participation; and
  - (iii) Whether there appears to be an identifiable underlying reason for the request to withdraw the complaint such as whether there is information to suggest that the complainant may have been pressured into withdrawing the complaint.
- 6.2 Even if a request to withdraw a complaint is granted, the Monitoring Officer may still refer the circumstances for assessment and investigation under the appropriate procedures if those circumstances merit such action in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer such as if they disclose potentially significant probity issues, possible criminal offences or safeguarding issues.

#### 7 Conflicts of interest

- 7.1 If any officer has any personal or professional conflict of interest in relation to a complaint, they must have no involvement or no further involvement in dealing with that complaint other than such reasonable steps as are necessary to ensure that the complaint is dealt with by someone other than them. Any conflicts identified during the course of a matter will be managed appropriately by the Monitoring Officer.
- 7.2 An officer who has previously advised a subject member or has given advice to the complainant about the issues giving rise to a complaint must seek advice from their line manager as to whether they can properly be involved in the conduct of a related complaint. Public perception and the public interest will be considered.
- 7.3 If any Independent Person has any personal or professional conflict of interest in relation to a complaint, they must have no involvement or no further involvement in dealing with that complaint other than such reasonable steps as are necessary to ensure that the complaint is dealt with by someone other than them. Where this

occurs another Independent Person will be appointed and the appropriate person(s) notified.

#### 8 Records retention

8.1 Brent Council will store all records of complaints in electronic format in a secure environment on a computer network. Records will be stored in accordance with the Brent Council's records management policy and procedures. We may also choose to store hard copies of some or all documents and information.

#### Annex 1 to the Code of Conduct complaint Assessment and Determination Procedure

#### **Assessment Criteria**

#### 1. Introduction

- 1.1 All complaints and reviews will be considered on their merits and according to the facts.
- 1.2 The Monitoring Officer will seek the views of the Independent Person at Steps 3, 4, 9 and 10 of the procedure set out in 3.5 of the main document.
- 1.3 These assessment criteria, which are subject to an annual review by the Standards Committee, will be used as guidance in the consideration and determination of complaints and reviews but the Monitoring Officer is entitled to depart from these criteria when they consider it appropriate to do so.
- 1.4 The assessment criteria are intended to be a guide to promote consistency. Two complaints may be about the same aspect of the Code but differ considerably in terms of the facts, how serious they are and there may be huge differences in the relevance and amount of detail regarding the complaint. For these reasons the assessment criteria can only be a guide.

#### 2. The Assessment Criteria

#### Overriding criteria

These three tests will be applied during the initial assessment of a complaint:

- Is the complaint about one or more named members of the authority?
- Was the subject member in office at the time of the alleged conduct?
- If proven, would the complaint disclose a breach of the Code of Conduct?

#### No finding of whether there is a breach of the Code

If on the facts it is not possible to determine whether there has been or may have been a breach of the Code and the alleged conduct does not merit an investigation, having regard to the public interest, this is the appropriate finding to make.

No finding of whether there is a breach of the Code but action other than investigation is appropriate

If on the facts it is not possible to determine whether there has been or may have been a breach of the Code, the alleged conduct does not merit an investigation, having regard to the public interest, but the allegation and any response from the subject member disclose an underlying issue that action such as mediation or training on the Code or council procedures might assist with, this is the appropriate finding to make. The other action information below needs to be considered in these circumstances.

#### Finding of no breach of the Code

If the facts available demonstrate on the balance of probabilities that there has been no breach of the Code, this is the appropriate finding to make. If there is no breach of the Code a sanction cannot be imposed but other action such as mediation or training might still be considered.

#### Finding of a breach of the Code without an investigation

A finding that the Code of Conduct has been breached without the need for an investigation will usually be appropriate in the following circumstances:

- It can clearly be shown that from the information that has been provided by the subject member and the complainant that a breach of the Code has occurred
- The subject member has admitted to the breach of the Code, whether or not they have offered to remedy the breach
- It can be shown that an investigation is unlikely to be able to establish any further
  independent relevant evidence regarding the complaint or that the cost of obtaining
  any further evidence would not be justified having regard to the public interest and that
  on the evidence supplied a breach of the Code can be shown

A breach of the Code without investigation can only be found if the complaint satisfies the first three initial tests and that it can be clearly shown, on the balance of probabilities that a breach of the Code of Conduct has occurred.

#### No Further Action

If a breach of the Code is found but it is trivial, a technical breach or otherwise of limited effect it may be appropriate to take no further action.

#### Referral for other action

A complaint may be referred for other action in the circumstances listed below. Other action may be appropriate whether a breach is found or not. However, in general, other action may

be used where the complaint discloses a more general rather than a specific problem concerning the member's conduct.

Referring a matter for other action effectively closes the door on a review of the decision as the matter cannot subsequently be referred for investigation if the complainant is dissatisfied with the outcome of the other action. As such, other action should be exercised only where appropriate. If necessary the assessment of a complaint can be deferred while further information is obtained and other action is being considered. In addition, the subject member and the complainant can be contacted to see if they will accept other action as a way of resolving the complaint, such as by way of an apology.

The following should be considered in determining whether it is appropriate to refer a complaint for other action:

- Does taking further action provide an opportunity to resolve the issue and to prevent any similar issues arising in the future and promote good governance?
- Does the complaint present a potentially less serious breach of the Code than would require the matter to be referred for investigation and is any benefit to be gained from referring the matter for investigation?
- Is the subject member a member who appears to have a poor understanding of the Code and relevant procedures?
- Is the council suffering from a widespread breakdown in internal relationships and trust where a course of action other than an investigation of a complaint may be more appropriate and beneficial to the council?

#### Referral for Investigation

A complaint should usually be referred for investigation in the following circumstances:

- The complaint has passed all three of the initial tests
- The subject member has denied the allegations but the information presented indicates that there may be a breach of the Code
- On the information provided the potential breach of the Code of Conduct is sufficiently serious that an investigation should be undertaken to discount or substantiate the complaint and to determine what sanction, if any, is appropriate

#### Potential offences under the Localism Act 2011

If it is considered that the allegation concerned may disclose an offence under the Localism Act it should be referred to the police or other appropriate person(s) for further consideration as to whether there should be an investigation with a view to prosecution. No prosecution can

be brought without the consent of the Director of Public Prosecutions.

If it transpires that no offence was committed, whether following trial or otherwise, the complaint ought to be reintroduced to this procedure for determination of any breach of the code and any appropriate sanction.

#### Annex 2

#### How is the investigation conducted?

- 1. Where, the view of the Monitoring Officer is that a complaint merits formal investigation, the Monitoring Officer will appoint an investigating officer. The timescale for investigation will normally take no more than 12 weeks to complete.
- 2. The investigating officer will contact the complainant and the member against whom a complaint has been made and undertake such investigation as is appropriate in all the circumstances within the parameters of the complaint that has been made. Where during the course of an investigation new matters arise, the Investigating Officer shall refer those matters back to the Monitoring Officer for a decision on how those matters should be dealt with under these procedures.
- 3. At the end of the investigation, the investigating officer will produce a draft report and will seek comments and views on the draft report from the complainant and the member against whom the complaint has been made.
- 4. Having received and taken account of any comments which have been made, the Investigating Officer will send a copy of the final report to the Monitoring Officer.
- 5. If at any time the investigation is frustrated, for example, if significant witnesses are not available for interview, the Monitoring Officer following consultation with the Independent Person can decide what action to take, including terminating the investigation.
- 6. What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that there is no evidence of a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct?
- 6.1 The Standards Committee will review the Investigating Officer's report and if, following consultation with the Independent Person, it accepts the Investigating Officer's conclusion, the Standards Committee will inform the complainant and the member concerned that it is satisfied that no further action is required. A copy of the Investigating Officer's final report will be given to the complainant and the member concerned. Members of the Standards Committee will be advised that the report relates to an individual and will reveal their identity.

6.2 If the Standards Committee following consultation with the Independent Person is not satisfied that the investigation has been conducted properly, it may ask the investigating officer to reconsider his/her report.

6.3 If the Standards Committee following consultation with the Independent Person wishes, notwithstanding the views of the investigating officer, it may refer the matter for hearing.

# 7. What happens if the investigating officer concludes that there is evidence of a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct?

7.1 The Standards Committee will review the investigating officer's report and following consultation with the Independent Person, will either (a) direct local resolution or (b) refer the matter to Standards Committee for a hearing

#### 7.2 Local Resolution

The Standards Committee, following consultation with the Independent Person may consider that the matter can reasonably be resolved without the need for a hearing. In such a case the Standards Committee may direct such fair resolution as it considers helps to ensure higher standards of conduct for the future. Such resolution may include the member accepting that his/her conduct was unacceptable and offering an apology and/or other remedial action by the authority. If the member complies with the suggested resolution, the Monitoring Officer will report the matter to the Standards Committee for information but will take no further action. If the local resolution recommended by the Standards Committee is not complied with, the Monitoring Officer will refer the matter to the Standards Committee to determine whether there should be a hearing.

#### 7.3 Standards Committee hearing

Meetings of the Standards Committee will be open to the press and public unless confidential or exempt information under Part VA Local Government Act 1972 is likely to be disclosed. The committee will go into private session if it resolves to do so.

If the Standards Committee decides that the matter will proceed to hearing, paragraphs 8 to 11 will apply:

#### 8. Pre Hearing Process

8.1 Prior to a hearing, an officer from the Council's Democratic Services team will write to the member subject to the complaint proposing a date for the hearing before the Standards Committee.	

8.2 The Legal Department will provide a copy of this procedure note to the member subject to
the complaint and request a written response from the member within a set time in relation to
whether the member:-
□ Wants to be represented at the hearing by a solicitor, barrister or any other person and the
identity of that person
$\ \square$ Disagrees with any of the findings of fact in the investigation report and the reasons for it
□ Considers he or she has breached the Code of Conduct and, if not, why
□ Whether if there is found to be a breach there is anything he or she would like to be taken
into account by the committee when it considers whether a sanction should be imposed and
what that sanction might be
□ Wants to give evidence to the Standards Committee either verbally or in writing
$\hfill \square$ Wants to call relevant witnesses to give evidence to the hearing and to provide details of the
witnesses
□ Wants any part of the hearing to be held in private and reasons for the request
□ Wants any part of the investigation report or other relevant documents to be withheld from
the public and reasons for the request
☐ Has any special access requirements e.g. interpreter, special print (or the Member's
witness(es)) or representative requires such)
□ Can attend the hearing
8.3 The member's response will be referred to the Monitoring Officer to comment in order to
ensure that all parties are clear about the remaining factual disputes and can deal with these
issues at the hearing. The Monitoring Officer will also ascertain from the investigating officer
whether the complainant will be giving evidence at the hearing and whether the investigating
officer will be calling any witnesses to give evidence.
8.4 The Monitoring Officer will prepare a report for the hearing which will:
□ Summarise the allegation
□ Outline the main facts of the case which are agreed
□ Outline the main facts which are not agreed
□ Indicate whether the member and the investigating officer will be present at the hearing
□ Indicate the witnesses, if any, who will be asked to give evidence
☐ Include the proposed procedure for the hearing
☐ Include the Investigating Officer's report

☐ Include the views of the Independent Person

#### 9 The Hearing

- 9.1 The hearing is before the Standards Committee and the Independent Person will be in attendance to provide his/her views before a decision is made.
- 9.2 The procedure for local hearings is attached at Annex 3.
- 9.3 The meeting of the Standards Committee will be open to the press and public unless confidential or exempt information under Part VA Local Government Act 1972 is likely to be disclosed. The Committee will go into private session if it resolves to do so.
- 9.4 The Standards Committee will decide on the balance of probabilities whether the member is in breach of the Code of Conduct. The Standards Committee must seek the views of the independent person before making a decision on the allegation.
- 9.5 The Standards Committee can determine the number of witnesses and the way in which witnesses can be questioned.
- 9.6 If the member fails to attend the hearing, the Standards Committee can decide whether to proceed in the member's absence and make a determination or whether to adjourn the hearing to a later date.
- 9.7. If the Standards Committee concludes that the member did fail to comply with the Code of Conduct, the Committee will then consider what action, if any, the Committee should take. In doing this, the Committee will give the member the opportunity to make representations to the Committee and will consult the Independent Person.
- 10. What action can the Standards Committee take where a member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct?
- 10.1 The Council has delegated to the Standards Committee such of its powers to take action in respect of individual members as may be necessary to promote and maintain high standards of conduct.

Accordingly the Standards Committee may:

□ Censure or reprimand the member
□ Publish in a local newspaper its findings in respect of the member's conduct
□ Report its findings to Council for information
□ Recommend that the member apologises
□ Recommend that the member undertakes training
□ Recommend to the member's Group Leader (or in the case of ungrouped members
recommend to Council or to committees) that the member be removed from any or all
committees of the council
$\ \square$ Recommend to the Leader that the member be removed from the Cabinet or removed from
particular portfolio responsibilities
□ Recommend to Council that the member be replaced in any Council appointed roles
☐ Instruct the Monitoring Officer to arrange training for the member
□ Recommend to Council removal from all outside appointments to which the member has
been appointed or nominated by the authority
□ Withdraw facilities provided to the member by the Council
□ Exclude the member from the Council's offices or other premises with the exception of
meeting rooms as necessary for attending council and committee meetings.
11. What happens at the end of hearing?

- 11.1 At the end of the hearing the Chair of the Standards Committee will state the decision of the Committee and any actions which the Committee resolves to take.
- 11.2 The decision taken by the Standards Committee will be recorded in accordance with ordinary committee rules.

#### 12. Appeals

There is no right of appeal for the complainant or the member against a decision of the Monitoring Officer or the Standards Committee.

#### Annex 3

#### **Procedure for Hearings before the Standards Committee**

#### 1. Introduction

#### 2. Chair of the Standards Committee outlines the hearing procedure

The Chair can depart from the procedure outlined below where he/she considers it expedient to do so in order to secure the fair consideration of the matter.

#### **Findings of Fact**

3. The Committee should consider where there are any significant disagreements about the facts contained in the investigating officer's report.

If there is no disagreement about the facts the committee can move on to the next stage of the hearing (go to paragraph 9)

4. Where there is a disagreement the investigating officer will be invited to make representations to support the findings of fact and with the committee's permission, call witnesses to give evidence.

The member, against whom the complaint has been made, will be given the opportunity to challenge the evidence put forward by any witness called by the investigating officer by asking the witness questions.

5. The member will then be given the opportunity to make representations and with the committee's permission, call any witnesses to give evidence.

The investigating officer will be given the opportunity to challenge the evidence put forward by any witness called by the member to give evidence.

- 6. At any time, the committee and independent person may question any of the people involved or any witnesses. The independent person may also give an opinion.
- 7. The Committee will usually consider the representations and evidence in private.

The committee will be advised by the Monitoring Officer, in private if necessary, at any time during the hearing or while they are considering the outcome.

8. Once the committee has made its decision, the Chair will announce the committee's finding of fact to the meeting.

#### Did the member fail to comply with the Code of Conduct?

- 9. The committee should then consider whether based on the facts it has found, the member has failed to comply with the Code.
- 10. The member will be invited to make representations on the matter.
- 11. The investigating officer will be invited to make representations.
- 12. The independent person will be invited to give an opinion.
- 13. The committee may, at any time, question the member, investigating officer or independent person on any point raised.
- 14. The member will be invited to make any final relevant points
- 15. The committee will usually consider the representations in private, with the attendance of and advice from the Monitoring Officer.
- 16. Once the committee has made its decision, the Chair will announce the committee's decision to the meeting as to whether the member has failed to comply with the Code.

#### If there is a finding that the member has not failed to comply with the Code of Conduct

17 Where the committee decides that the member has not failed to comply with the Code, the committee can consider whether it wishes to make any recommendations.

If there is a finding that the member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct

18. If the committee decided that the member has failed to comply with the Code, it will consider representations from the member, investigating officer and independent person as to:
□ Whether the committee should apply a sanction □ What form any sanction should take
19. The committee may question the investigating officer, member and independent person and take legal advice, to make sure they have the information they need in order to make an informed decision.
20. The committee will consider in private with the attendance of and advice from the Monitoring Officer whether to impose a sanction and if, so what sanction it should be
21. The Chair will announce the decision to the meeting.
22. The committee will also consider whether it should make any recommendations with a view to promoting high standards of conduct
Committee decision
23. The decision taken by the Standards Committee will be recorded in accordance with ordinary committee rules.